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) 

Defendant(s) 

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

On or about the date(s) of 3/5/18 in the county of Wilson 

Western District of Texas , the defendant(s) violated: 

Code Section Offense Description 

18/922(g)(1) Felon in Possession of a Firearm. 

PENALTIES: Up to 10 years imprisonment, $250,000 fine, 3 years 
supervised release, $100 mandatory special assessment. 

This criminal complaint is based on these facts: 

See attached Affidavit 

LI Continued on the attached sheet. 

'Sworn to before me and signed in my presence. 
Sworn to telephonically and signed electronically. 

Date: 

City and state: San Antonio, Texas 

Complainant's signature 

ATF S/A Kaitlin O'Connell 
Printed name and title 

in the 

Printed name and title 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

SAN ANTONIO DIVISION 

AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF A CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, Special Agent Kaitlin O'Connell, being duly sworn do hereby depose and state: 

1. Your affiant is currently employed as a Special Agent (SA) with the Bureau of Alcohol, 
Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF) and has been so employed since January 2015. Since 
January 2015, your affiant has participated in investigations concerning violations of Title 18. 

2. On March 5, 2018, Robert Mikell Ussery aka Side Thorn and his girlfriend, known as 
"Conspiracy Granny," entered the property of the First Baptist Church of Sutherland Springs, in 
Sutherland Springs, Texas. Ussery and Conspiracy Granny were trespassing on the property of the 
Sutherland Springs First Baptist Church and were verbally harassing the Pastor and another church 
member. (The Sutherland Springs First Baptist Church was the scene of a mass shooting on 
November 5,2017, where 26 people were killed.) Ussery and Conspiracy Granny were confronting 
the Pastor about the shooting claiming it was all a government hoax and that the 26 people weren't 
actually killed. Ussery aggressively escalated the situation and yelled that "the people" will hang 
the Pastor for perpetrating the hoax. Ussery added that he will then urinate on him. Ussery and 
Conspiracy Granny recorded this confrontation on Go-Pro video recording devices, which they 
were holding or wearing. 

3. During the confrontation, the church member called 911 to report the confrontation. Ussery 
was ultimately arrested by the Wilson County Sheriff's Office for Resisting Arrest, Criminal 
Trespass, Possession of Marijuana <2 ounces, and Terroristic Threat Causing Fear of Imminent 
Serious Bodily Injury. Conspiracy Granny was arrested during the same incident for Resisting 
Arrest and Criminal Trespass. Ussery and Conspiracy Granny were arrested while standing beside 
Ussery's White Chevy Pickup Truck, Texas license plate #xxxx 134. 

4. Wilson County Sheriff's Office sought a state search warrant for the Go-Pros that were 
recovered in the possession of Ussery and Conspiracy Granny. As a result of the search warrant, 
multiple videos were recovered. (Note: the below conversations are not intended to be exact 
transcripts of the videos). 

5. One such video is labeled Go-Pro file number GP023566 from Ussery's Go-Pro camera. This 
video contains a portion of the above confrontation on March 5, 2018 in front of the First Baptist 
Church of Sutherland Springs which lead to Ussery and Conspiracy Granny's arrests. On the video, 
Ussery and Conspiracy Granny confront the Pastor and the church member. Towards the end of 
the incident, Ussery and Conspiracy Granny walk back to the White Chevy Pickup Truck they 
arrived in, Texas license plate #xxxx 134. At this time, the video shows Ussery open the truck door 
and enter the driver seat. Ussery then lifts the floor mat on the driver's floor board and places a 
black and silver semiautomatic striker-fire pistol under the same floor mat. Shortly after, 
while in the White Chevy Pickup Truck, Ussery and Conspiracy Granny have the following 
conversation: 
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Conspiracy Granny: I hear sirens. 

Usserv: What? 
Conspiracy Granny: I hear sirens. 

Ussery: Good... We don't have any stickers on this car. 
Conspiracy Granny: I know. 

Ussery: The gun's under the mat, so that's yours. 
*Approxjmate!y a 45 second pause* 

Ussery: Get the bull horn. 
Conspiracy Granny: I'm trying. 

Ussery: Here I'm going to leave the keys right here for you. 
Ussery: Gun is under the floorboard. 
Conspiracy Granny: Lock it? 

Ussery: Yeah I guess you can, get the keys though, put them in your pocket. 

6. Another video labeled Go-Pro file number GOPR3 362 from Ussery' s Go-Pro camera shows a 
different confrontation. On June 10, 2017, Ussery and Conspiracy Granny approach a church 
gathering at the Decker United Methodist Church in Austin, Texas. They arrived in a Blue Chevy 
Spark, Texas license plate #xxxx 102. While wearing a Go-Pro camera, Ussery and Conspiracy 
Granny were passing out flyers to the attendees, who were largely motorcycle riders. Ussery was 
encouraging the bikers to go to Ussery's website to learn about the Sutherland Springs shooting 
hoax and the Waco Twin Peaks shooting hoax. Ussery confronts the bikers and shouts obscenities. 
At one point, Ussery's comments cause a few of the bikers to engage Ussery in a physical 
altercation. During this time the video reveals that Ussery yells to Conspiracy Granny, "Get the 
gun honey, get the gun, get the gun and shoot them! Shoot them, shoot him, shoot them, shoot 
them, shoot him, shoot them!" Once Ussery and Conspiracy Granny depart the area in their Blue 
Chevy Spark, Texas license plate #xxxx 102, the video reveals the following conversation: 

Ussery: Perfect ..... Now we going make a video 
Conspiracy Granny: They didn't like pussy ass bitches. 
Usserv: Huh? 
Conspiracy Granny: *inaudible* 
Ussery: We got to get out, cause we got a gun, we got the, license plate and the tag 
and everything. 
Conspiracy Granny: I couldn't find the gun. It's good 
Ussery: It's under the seat 

7. Your affiant reviewed a video of a phone interview between Ussery and a radio show. During 
the interview, which was posted online on May 1, 2018, Ussery and the Interviewer had the 
following exchange: 

Interviewer: Why don't you have a gun? 
Ussery: I can't own a gun 
Interviewer: Oh you're a felon? 
Ussery: Yes 
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8. On January 26, 2018, Ussery and Conspiracy Granny walked into the Federal Bureau of 
Investigations (P131) in San Antonio to report they had received death threats. When asked if he 
felt threatened, Ussery reported that if he felt threatened, as if someone was going to shoot him, 
he would defend himself. Ussery was asked if he had a weapon, and he stated that he did not 
because he was prohibited by law from owning a weapon as a convicted felon. Ussery stated that 
his girlfriend, Conspiracy Granny, was allowed to carry a weapon, and that she would carry it in 

her vehicle. 

9. An ATF Interstate Nexus Expert reviewed Go-Pro file number GP023 566 from Ussery's Go- 

Pro which depicts Ussery possessing a firearm. The Nexus Expert identified the firearm in 

Ussery's possession as a black and silver semi-automatic striker-fire pistol, caliber unknown, serial 

number unknown. No striker-fire pistol manufacturers have ever been located in Texas. ATF 

determined that the firearm under the definition of Chapter 44, Title 18 U.S.C., Section 921 (a)(3) 

was manufactured outside of the State of Texas, after 1898, and therefore traveled in interstate 
and/or foreign commerce to the State of Texas. 

10. Ussery was previously convicted of the felony offense of Burglary of Vehicle on May 4, 1984 

in Brazoria County, Texas, Cause Number 14-606. Ussery was sentenced to a term of four years 
in the Texas Department of Corrections. 

11. Based on the above facts, your affiant believes there is probable cause that Robert Mikell 
Ussery, a convicted felon, was in possession a firearm on March 5, 2018 in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§922(g)(1). 

Speci 1 Agen(Kaitlin O'Connell 
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and 
Explosives 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME THISZ'_DAY OF May, 2018. 

O,R4BLE HENY J. BEMPORAD 
PEn STATES I(IAGISTRATE JUDGE 
TERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 
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